Accepted Manuscript

Bypassing the Blood-Brain Barrier to Treat Brain Cancer: A Systematic Review of the Efficacy of Carmustine Wafer Implant Therapy

Mark Sharobim BSc, MSc, Peter A. Tsivis, MD, MBA

DOI: 10.15404/msrj/08.2021.198

Reference: MSRJ

To appear in: Medical Student Research Journal

Received Date: 27 January 2020

Revised Date: 24 August 2021

Accepted Date: 18 August 2021

This is a PDF file of an unedited manuscript that has been accepted for publication. As a service to our customers we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in its final form. Please note that during the production process errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

Bypassing the Blood-Brain Barrier to Treat Brain Cancer: A Systematic Review of the Efficacy of Carmustine Wafer Implant Therapy

Mark Sharobim BSc, MSc1*, Peter A. Tsivis, MD, MBA1,2

1Saba University School of Medicine, The Bottom, Saba, The Caribbean Netherlands

2Rocky Vista University College of Osteopathic Medicine, Ivins, Utah, USA

Corresponding author:

Mark Sharobim BSc, MSc

m.sharobim@saba.edu

Table of Contents

 \triangleright

Abstract Error! Bookmark not defined.
Table of Contents 3
List of Abbreviations4
Introduction5
Methods9
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria9
Search Methods9
Study Tabulations and Outcomes Measured10
Results11
Summary of Drug Wafer Therapy Studies11
Overall Efficacy15
Discussion17
Conclusion19
References21
Table 1. Definitions of patient outcomes measured in cancer clinical trials
Table 2. Summary of studies demonstrating clinical outcomes after use of carmustine (Gliadel) wafer therapy in patients with glioma 27
Figure 1. Percent (%) increase in overall survival (OS) in treatment vs. control groups from carmustine wafer studies and the Stupp protocol
Appendix A
Table 3. Summary of study types and evidence level 29

List of Abbreviations

2B3-101	(Drug) PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin conjugated to glutathione			
AA	Anaplastic Astrocytoma			
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier			
BBBD	Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption			
BBTB	Blood-Brain Tumor Barrier			
CB	Cintredekin besudotox			
CED	Convection Enhanced Delivery			
CNS	Central nervous system			
CR	Complete response			
DFI	Disease-free interval			
DPG	Diffuse Pontine Glioma			
EFS	Event-free survival			
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme			
GRN1005	(Drug) Paclitaxel conjugated to the aminoacid sequence angiopep2			
IA	Intra-arterial chemotherapy			
IDH	Isocitrate dehydrogenase			
LRP-1	Lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1			
OS	Overall survival			
PCV	Procarbazine/CCNU [lomustine]/vincristine			
PD	Progressive disease			
PEG	Polyethylene glycol			
PFS	Progression free survival			
PR	Partial Response			
RCTs	Randomized Clinical Trials			
SD	Stable disease			
TMZ	Temozolomide			
TP38	Recombinant TGF- α protein fused with Pseudomonas exotoxin			
TTP	Time to tumor progression			
WHO	World Health Organization			
XRT	Radiotherapy			

Introduction

Gliomas are cancers of the central nervous system (CNS) that arise from stem and progenitor cells of neuroglial origin. These cancers may generate from any of the following neuroglia: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells.¹ Other glial cells include microglia and radial glial cells, and though these cells often do not constitute tissue forming primary CNS tumors, certain lineages such as radial glial cells may be a source of stem cells that give rise to glioma.²

Primary brain tumors are grouped according to histologic features and are graded I - IV. Recently expanded criteria include molecular and genetic characteristics. Astrocytomas are the most commonly diagnosed glioma. According to World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines, astrocytomas are separated into four grades (I-IV) based on histologic features and malignant potential. Grade IV tumors include glioblastoma multiforme (GBM; common in adults), or diffuse midline glioma, the latter which affects children.³ Over 30 different types of glioma are described in the 2016 WHO Classification of Tumors of the CNS report.³

Gliomas make up approximately 30% of primary brain tumors, and 80% of malignant cases.¹ In fact, primary CNS tumours account for the highest annual incidence of any neoplasm in children (\leq 19 years old) and are the second leading cause of mortality due to primary cancer in this age group. In adults, they are the most common primary malignant brain tumor. In the United States between 2007 – 2011, the incidence of gliomas was 6.6 per 100,000 people. GBM, the most aggressive subtype, accounted for almost 50% of cases.⁴ The incidence of other gliomas can be up to 10 times lower than GBM. Like many other malignancies, incidence increases with age, with rates in the elderly being more than double the population average.⁵

In the most aggressive gliomas, treatment warrants a multi-disciplinary approach from a team of healthcare professionals. Despite major advances in understanding of the pathophysiology of glioma, it is still among the deadliest cancers. Standard treatment is surgical excision of the tumor followed by

5 of 29

concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy. The median overall survival (OS) for those diagnosed with GBM is 12 - 18 months and 3-year survival remains below 15%. After disease recurrence, the outcome is almost invariably death, as progression free survival is typically 10 weeks and median OS can be anywhere from 25 - 40 weeks.⁶ Another reason for poor patient performance is the fact that current standard of care for gliomas such as GBM is clearly defined, but no consensus is available regarding second line treatment options.⁷ Thus, there is a need to develop more efficacious approaches to therapy.

The blood brain barrier (BBB) separates blood perfusing the CNS from the surrounding brain tissue. The BBB is formed by tight junctions between the endothelial cells of vasculature found within the CNS. Furthermore, it is a functional unit composed of neuronal cells, astrocyte foot processes and pericytes which reinforce the barrier.⁸ It is also a selective barrier that permits passage of nutrients while excluding entry of neurotoxins or macromolecules that are damaging to nervous tissue.

The permeability of the BBB can be altered in the natural progression of diseases such as infections, brain cancer, multiple sclerosis, and stroke. In the development of a cancer, the changes in tumor microenvironment and neovascularization modify this barrier so that it is considered distinct from a normally functioning BBB, leading some to refer to it as the blood-brain tumor barrier (BBTB).⁹ Though the BBTB is more porous than the BBB, it remains unclear whether this permeability difference allows for any meaningful accumulation of chemotherapeutic drugs or substances.¹⁰

Reports from the 1970s by Rapoport and colleagues demonstrated that injection of hypertonic solutions mixed with Evans blue dye into arteries resulted in staining of surrounding brain tissue. The hypothesis was that the osmotic shift of fluid out of the endothelial cell in a hypertonic environment disrupted the tight junctions and integrity of this barrier.^{11,12} Similar experiments subsequently confirmed this hypothesis, and this technique was termed blood brain barrier disruption (BBBD). Amongst the earliest forms of bypassing the BBB, this technique has been used with intra-arterial injection of chemotherapeutic agents to increase uptake of drugs in the CNS. Another method to bypass the BBB is to

couple drugs to ligands that bind receptors on the surface of the endothelial cells lining the barrier. These ligands are transcytosed across the endothelial cell and taken up into the brain parenchyma.^{13,14} Another way to bypass the BBB is via direct deposition of drug in the brain cavity. This is routinely done, and the drug can be implanted at the surgical resection site of the tumor. Gliadel® wafers are small circular discs of biodegradable wafer containing a chemotherapeutic agent called carmustine. These wafers disintegrate in the presence of water to allow slow local release of carmustine in a surgical resection cavity.¹⁵ This prevents residual cancer cells from growing. Also, because gliomas such as GBM frequently recur near the primary neoplastic site of origin,¹⁶ they also prevent disease relapse. Many placebo-controlled randomized clinical trials (RCTs) in the past have demonstrated their efficacy in treating different types of primary or recurrent glioma. They have been approved as treatment for newly diagnosed high-grade gliomas by the FDA since 1996.¹⁷

Candidate treatments not discussed at length in this report still in the early phases of clinical development include bradykinin mediated BBB opening (now discontinued)¹⁸ and drug efflux transporter inhibitors¹⁹, both reviewed elsewhere⁹. In the case of bradykinin mediated BBB disruption, the authors of the most recent clinical trial have suggested the negative results are because the already transient nature of the barrier opening by bradykinin requires concomitant as well as continuous dosing with the desired agent (*e.g.*, chemotherapy) and that these schedules often result in tachyphylaxis to bradykinin, as shown in early animal models. Drug efflux transporters implicated in CNS tumors have not reached clinical trial testing, and while there is more evidence they cause drug resistance in other cancers such as breast and leukemia, no drugs are available in the clinic today.²⁰

To date, first line therapy for newly diagnosed GBM is surgical resection followed by concomitant radiotherapy and chemotherapy. This is based off clinical trial data by Stupp *et al.*,

who showed postoperative chemoradiotherapy with the alkylating agent temozolomide (TMZ) improved median survival and 2-year survival as compared to radiotherapy alone. In some cases where a patient carries a favorable genetic mutation, the survival difference can be five-fold.^{21,22} Though standard of care, this treatment modality has not been updated recently,²³ and gliomas remain among the most aggressive cancers. Since in this protocol TMZ is given peripherally, it's uptake in the CNS is limited by the BBB. Thus, newer therapies may be designed with the intent of overcoming the limitations of the physiologic barrier to the brain.

The purpose of this report was to review relevant literature to determine if a therapy that bypasses the BBB has resulted in improved treatment outcomes for patients diagnosed with glioma. Though other reports have reviewed the status of treatments that bypass the BBB,⁹ none have attempted to make a conclusion as to the efficacy of these treatments relative to standard of care. Our hypothesis is that overall, treatment that actively circumvents this barrier will lead to better outcomes for patients with glioma as compared to treatment that does not actively breach the BBB. To date and to our knowledge, the most clinically developed method of BBB diversion is wafer therapy as they are the only treatment modality that has reached phase III clinical testing. Therefore to test our hypothesis, we analyzed whether wafer implant therapy with or without chemoradiation post surgical resection of brain tumor improved overall survival in patients with high grade gliomas when compared to placebo or no wafer therapy.

Methods

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Initially, all studies gathered were RCTs or studies with a treatment arm and control arm, with treatment arms including intervention consisting of post surgical tumor resection wafer therapy with or without chemoradiation; control arms used no wafer or placebo wafer (for specific keywords used, see below). Studies with adult patients of all ages that had a histologically confirmed diagnosis of recurrent or de novo glioma were considered. Studies with patients that had prior unrelated malignancy that was present in the patient's medical history were excluded. Therefore, patients with brain metastases were not included as this represents a different primary disease.

For efficacy analysis comparing wafer therapy to published data from trials using current standard of care protocols only, patients with primary gliomas were not compared to those with recurrent glioma (see Results section), since a recurrent tumor is frequently a different disease to manage.²⁴ Also for efficacy analysis, gliomas in children were not included since pediatric and adult tumors are frequently unrelated.²⁵ The primary outcome for analysis was the percent change in median survival or OS and all studies compared included this measure.

Search Methods

Two databases, PubMed and Web of Science were used to gather data. The keywords ("glioma(s)" OR "glial cell tumor(s)" OR "malignant glioma(s)") were used with the terms (carmustine wafers OR BCNU wafers OR chemotherapy wafers OR Gliadel wafers) as described previously¹⁵. Of note, the keywords carmustine, BCNU, and Gliadel wafer refer to the same drug and were thus linked using the "OR" Boolean operator.

Study Tabulations and Outcomes Measured

The definitions of clinical outcomes from various studies are summarized in Table 1. Percent increase in survival rates among treatment versus control cohorts using wafer therapy was graphed for studies meeting inclusion and exclusion criteria are shown in Figure 1. Statistical significance was determined by p<0.05 and survival rates were depicted in each study using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis, differences were determined using the log-rank method unless otherwise stated in the Results section. The evidence table (Table 3) generated in Appendix A describing the types of study was determined using previously published criteria.²⁶

Results

Using the search criteria outlined previously in the methods section, a total of 10 papers were gathered. These encompassed over 500 patients across all studies. The studies gathered included 2 RCTs, 3 prospective cohort studies, and 6 retrospective case control studies, as summarized in Appendix A. The following includes a summary of major outcomes from each study. In each study, median survival or OS was depicted using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and differences were determined using the log-rank method unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Drug Wafer Therapy Studies

The earliest study published on this treatment modality is by Brem and colleagues.²⁷ The trial enrolled 222 patients with recurrent malignant glioma confirmed by CT or MRI imaging. All patients had not taken systemic chemotherapeutic drugs at least one month prior to treatment. Patients were randomized into two treatment groups: surgical resection followed by carmustine wafer implant versus resection followed by placebo wafer implant. Most patients (~ 65%) had glioblastoma multiforme. The primary outcome reported by the authors was mortality rate after treatment at 6 months. The authors demonstrated that implantation of wafers significantly decreased mortality in patients when stratified according to specific pathology (*i.e.*, GBM or anaplastic astrocytoma) but no difference when combined. In glioblastoma, treatment with wafer implants resulted in a mortality rate at 6 months of 44% as opposed to 64% in the control group (OS of 56% and 37%, respectively; p=0.02). This resulted in a hazard ratio of 0.67 (95% CI: 0.48 – 0.95, p=0.02). Across all patients, mortality at 6 months was 40% in the treatment group, and 53% in the control group (OS of 60% and 47%, respectively; p=0.061), with a hazard ratio of 0.67 (95% CI: 0.51 – 0.90, p=0.061).

In a prospective cohort study, Valtonen and colleagues²⁸ enrolled 32 patients with a histopathological diagnosis of grade III or IV glioma. Other inclusion criteria included unilateral tumor based on CT or MRI imaging, age between 18 and 65 years, and a minimum score of 60/100 on Karnofsky performance scale (KPS). Exclusion criteria were evidence of systemic disease, thrombocytopenia, pregnancy or hypersensitivity reaction to contrast material. Patients in the treatment group received Gliadel wafers or placebo wafer post surgical resection of brain tumor. In patients with grade IV tumors (n=27), median survival post surgical resection in the control group was 39.9 weeks (95% CI: 37.6 - 45.0) as compared to 53.3 (95% CI: 40.1 - 77.7) in the wafer group (p=0.008). Treatment was associated with a hazard ratio of 0.28 (95% CI: 0.10-0.71, p=0.008) using the Cox proportional hazards model. No difference was seen with variables such as KPS or age using the same model.

Subach *et al.*²⁹ reviewed the outcomes of 94 patients with recurrent GBM treated with craniotomy and surgical resection of tumor followed by wafer implant. All participants were included if there was histological confirmation of GBM, completion of prior radiotherapy, radiographic evidence of tumor growth, and a KPS score of \geq 70. Patients were excluded if they received systemic chemotherapy less than 1 month prior to surgery. The treatment arm consisted of surgical resection with carmustine wafer implantation. A mean of 6 wafers were implanted in each surgical resection cavity. The control group was made up of patients receiving surgical resection of tumor only. Median survival from surgery was 14 weeks for the wafer treatment group and 54 weeks in the control group (p<0.001).

Westphal *et al.*³⁰ conducted a clinical trial with 240 patients who had malignant glioma. All patients had a supratentorial, unilateral, cerebral tumor as evidenced by MRI and KPS score

of ≥ 60 . After tumor resection, patients either received implanted carmustine wafer or placebo wafer. Post-operative radiotherapy was administered to both groups. Most patients (~83%) had GBM. Differences in prognostic factors of survival in multiple-regression analysis was calculated using Cox proportional hazards model. Median survival time was 13.9 months for the wafer group and 11.6 months in the placebo group (p=0.03). This was associated with a hazard ratio of 0.71 (95% CI: 0.52 – 0.96, p=0.03). Stratifying patients by GBM diagnosis only did not reveal a difference in survival.

In the investigation by Affronti *et al.*,³¹ retrospective chart reviews from 176 patients with primary GBM were used to determine if wafer implants improved clinical outcome. All patients must have had a primary GBM diagnosis based on histology, a lack of chemotherapy treatment prior to resection, gross or total resection, and post-surgical adjuvant radiotherapy and temozolomide treatment. No significant differences in overall, 1-year, 2-year, and median survival was observed across both treatment groups. Despite this, median survival was higher in the carmustine wafer group as compared to control (89.4 [95% CI: 65.9-136.4] vs. 72.7 [95% CI: 62.7-84.3] weeks, respectively; no p value reported).

McGirt and colleagues³² combined the use of wafer implants with adjuvant temozolomide therapy and radiation. All patients had received a primary resection of malignant GBM. All patients received adjuvant radiotherapy (XRT) and temozolomide (TMZ) therapy as described in the Stupp protocol.²² 33 patients received XRT + TMZ + Gliadel wafer, 45 received XRT + TMZ alone post resection. Patients receiving the treatment regimen lacking Gliadel wafers had a median survival of 14.7 months as compared to a similar cohort with Gliadel wafers who had a median survival or 20.7 months (p < 0.01). A difficulty arose in which some patients

did not receive Gliadel because total resection was not achieved in all patients. Thus, more patients (60% vs. 30% in control vs. treatment groups, respectively, p < 0.05) in the control group had subtotal resection. In cases where gross total resection was achieved, median survival increased in both cohorts but was disproportionately increased in the control group, and therefore the difference in survival was not significant.

The report by Chaichana and others³³ limited the scope of their study to patients over 65 with primary supratentorial GBM. All patients received either wafer or none post-resection and post-surgical radiotherapy. The median survival for the treatment arm was 8.7 months while it was 5.5 months for control (p=0.007). Survival rates were also significantly higher (p=0.04) for the treatment group at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months. The same trend was found in patients older than 70 and 75 years.

165 patients with newly diagnosed or recurrent GBM were treated in the study by De Bonis *et al.*³⁴ Histological diagnosis of grade IV GBM was performed after craniotomy and resection. Patients received either Gliadel wafers or nothing post surgical resection. All were treated with TMZ and XRT post surgery. If TMZ was too toxic, other drugs such as cisplatin and irinotecan were used. 47 patients were in the treatment group and 13 in the control arm. Median survival did not significantly change between treatment or control groups (14 months [95% CI: 8 – 18] versus 11 months [95 % CI: 8 – 14], respectively; p=0.77). The same was true when patients were stratified for recurrent or de novo GBM.

In the study by Noël *et al.*,³⁵ 28 patients received Gliadel wafers post surgical resection of histologically confirmed grade III or IV glioma (treatment group) versus 37 patients with similar

glioma who did not receive wafer treatment. There was no difference in median OS in either treatment group (20.6 vs 20.8 months, p=0.81).

In the most recently published study on wafer implant therapy, Samis-Zella *et al.*³⁶ compared the use of implantable wafers for recurrent grade IV GBM with patients with similar glioma who did not get wafer treatment. All patients were given TMZ as well as prophylactic cefazolin and dexamethasone post-surgically. 63 patients received wafer therapy and 32 did not post resection. Patients were matched for age, KPS performance and treatment for initial primary tumor. The primary outcome reported was PFS. The median PFS from disease recurrence was 6.0 months (95 % CI: 4.2 - 7.7) in the treatment group and 5.0 months (95% CI: 2.3 - 7.6) in the control group, and this difference was not significant (p=0.8).

5 of the 10 studies determined statistically significant differences in median survival or OS as determined by Kaplan-Meier survival analysis (indicated by a *, where p<0.05 in Table 2). Their efficacy as compared to standard of care is further analyzed in the proceeding section. A summary of the results of these studies are found in Table 2. A similar table comparing only study designs and evidence level is found in Appendix A (Table 3).

Overall Efficacy

To determine whether carmustine wafer treatment resulted in improved clinical performance for glioma patients, the percent change in survival seen in wafer studies was compared to previously established guidelines of first line treatment. In all 10 studies gathered, 6 trials using therapeutics that bypassed the BBB met criteria for analysis as determined in the methods section (*e.g.*, exclusion of patients with disease recurrence). One study did not report OS or median survival and was also excluded.³⁶ All patients had high-grade III or IV glioma. Of

the 6 trials, 4 (75%) demonstrated a significant ($p \le 0.05$) percent increase in median survival as compared to control, or non-disruptive treatment (Figure 1). Two studies did not find a significant increase in survival.^{31,35} Thus, 75% of eligible trials using wafer treatments showed a significant survival advantage over no wafer treatment.

To determine the usefulness of carmustine wafer therapy compared to current first line treatment for GBM, the percent change in survival seen amongst each study using wafer therapy was plotted against the survival benefit seen in the Stupp study, which was the first trial which described current treatment protocols.²² This is depicted in Figure 1. In the 4 trials that demonstrated a significantly increased survival benefit with wafer therapy, 3 (75%) showed equal or greater percent increase in survival than the Stupp study.

Discussion

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most common malignant brain tumor and is associated with poor clinical outcomes. First line treatment for gliomas such as GBM consists of surgical resection followed by concomitant radiotherapy and temozolomide chemotherapy, referred to as the Stupp protocol²². Phase III studies have shown significant survival improvements using this protocol. Since no other treatment regimen is currently comparable, and nothing is effective at treating recurrent GBM, more research is needed to further improve patient outcomes.

An area of interest is in the circumvention of the BBB, since most therapeutics that would otherwise effectively treat cancer cannot accumulate in sufficient concentration in brain parenchyma. One of the most clinically developed modalities that physically bypasses the BBB is via direct access through the cranium. With drug wafer treatments, surgically resected cancers can be treated by inserting a polyanhydride drug wafer (made up of the alkylating agent, carmustine) into the resection cavity, allowing for its slow release over time.

Compared to current first line treatment for GBM (Stupp protocol), 3 out of 4 (75%) selected studies in this report determined a greater overall percent increase in survival when using wafer implants. This indicates that using wafers may improve existing established treatment guidelines. In general, 9 out of 10 studies showed some benefit to receiving wafer post surgical resection. Some studies were underpowered (Valtonen *et al.*²⁸, n=27) and yet still were able to distinguish a statistically significant difference in survival. It is possible more patients would further separate changes in clinical outcomes. The only study to demonstrate risk, and not benefit, to using wafers was by Subach *et al.*²⁹ This may be partially because both treatment and

control groups were not the same size (n=17 and 45, respectively), and nearly half the patients in the wafer group (47%) had perioperative complications as opposed to only 13% of those who did not receive wafers post resection. Furthermore, some have suggested tumor location can be a prognostic factor, and thus easily accessible tumors (cerebrum vs. brainstem) have better prognosis.³⁷ Indeed, a greater proportion of tumors were in the frontal and temporal lobes of control group cases (72%) as compared to treatment cases (67%).

A major limiting factor in the results is the heterogeneity of controls between all the studies. There was not one variable that was consistently controlled for across all studies, though age and functional impairment score (KPS) were the most common. This is in line with others that show age and Karnofsky performance are both independent factors predicting outcome of GBM.³⁸ Only one study (Brem and colleagues²⁷) matched patients according to race. Others have shown similar survival outcomes across Caucasian and Afro-Caribbean patients with GBM, but significantly decreased survival in those of Hispanic descent.³⁹ Therefore. in addition to age and performance, race is a factor that was not properly controlled that could change patient outcomes. Furthermore, the number of patients was not congruent in all 10 reports, with treatment arm sizes ranging from 17 - 120.

In the future, the development of treatment modalities that actively disrupt the BBB is desired. Not only does survival statistics for high-grade gliomas remain poor, standard first line temozolomide therapy may not benefit patients with genetic variations in certain DNA repair mechanisms.⁴⁰ Thus, temozolomide resistance is a problem for patients with GBM as there is no widely accepted second-line treatment for this patient population. Further work in developing treatments that open the BBB may therefore alleviate this problem.

Conclusion

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) provides a significant hurdle to developing chemotherapeutics that could successfully treat brain tumors such as glioma. One notable hindrance to reducing the dismal clinical outcomes in glioma is that no method to breach the BBB has proved to be successful enough to be used as a primary treatment. The challenge is that the understanding of the pathophysiology of gliomas may develop at a quicker pace than our knowledge of how to circumvent the BBB. Future work must address this disparity to adequately improve patient outcomes.

This report reviewed all the relevant studies regarding wafer therapy, a method of actively bypassing the BBB via the direct implantation of drug-eluting wafers in an intracranial resection cavity to treat brain cancer. Other, newer therapies such as receptor mediated transport drug conjugates are promising due to their potential for low side effect profile, however they are less clinically developed. For example, since only two studies^{41,42} to date that describe drugs using receptor mediated transport have failed to reach phase II level of development, more research is needed to develop more clinically suitable targets. At this time, of the candidate therapies that can bypass the BBB, carmustine wafers for patients with glioma have the most utility. In some cases, we have showed they offer a clear advantage to current treatment regimens, but further investigation may be necessary to determine who may benefit from this therapy the most. This may be inherent to the mechanism of action of carmustine wafer therapy, an alkylating agent, as certain genetic factors may play a role in treatment response²¹. This is in line with our current hypothesis that truly effective opening of the BBB will improve clinical performance of patients with glioma.

These minor, yet significant successes have also demonstrated there is clinical value in pursuing the goal of overcoming the BBB. The future will determine if the goal of translating research on the bench to outcomes at the patient bedside is feasible. Past trials have already provided valuable lessons that can be applied to current research paradigms. Development of clinical trials addressing the lessons and questions outlined in this report may lead to the discovery of novel therapies that change the lives of those with malignant brain tumors.

Word Count (Excluding Abstract, Figures, Tables, References): 4160

References

- 1. Weller M, Wick W, Aldape K, et al. Glioma. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* 2015;1(July). doi:10.1038/nrdp.2015.17
- 2. Castillo M. Stem cells, radial glial cells, and a unified origin of brain tumors. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2010;31(3):389-390. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A1674
- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol*. 2016;131(6):803-820. doi:10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- 4. Ostrom QT, Bauchet L, Davis FG, et al. The epidemiology of glioma in adults: A state of the science review. *Neuro Oncol*. 2014;16(7):896-913. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou087
- 5. Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Liao P, et al. CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2007-2011. *Neuro Oncol.* 2014;16(suppl 4):iv1-iv63. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou223
- 6. Heiland DH, Masalha W, Franco P, Machein MR, Weyerbrock A. Progression-free and overall survival in patients with recurrent Glioblastoma multiforme treated with last-line bevacizumab versus bevacizumab/lomustine. *J Neurooncol*. 2016;126(3):567-575. doi:10.1007/s11060-015-2002-z
- 7. Gallego O. Nonsurgical treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. *Curr Oncol.* 2015;22(4):e273-81. doi:10.3747/co.22.2436
- 8. Hawkins BT, Davis TP. The Blood-Brain Barrier/Neurovascular Unit in Health and Disease. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2005;57(2):173-185. doi:10.1124/pr.57.2.4
- Tellingen O Van, Yetkin-arik B, Gooijer MC De, Wesseling P, Wurdinger T, Vries HE De. Overcoming the blood – brain tumor barrier for effective glioblastoma treatment. *Drug Resist Updat*. 2015;19:1-12. doi:10.1016/j.drup.2015.02.002
- 10. Zhan C, Lu W. The blood-brain/tumor barriers: challenges and chances for malignant gliomas targeted drug delivery. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol*. 2012;13(12):2380-2387. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23016643. Accessed May 6, 2018.
- Rapoport S, Hori M, Klatzo I. Testing of a hypothesis for osmotic opening of the bloodbrain barrier. *Am J Physiol Content*. 1972;223(2):323-331. doi:10.1152/ajplegacy.1972.223.2.323
- 12. Rapoport S. Effect of concentrated solutions on blood-brain barrier. *Am J Physiol Content*. 1970;219(1):270-274. doi:10.1152/ajplegacy.1970.219.1.270
- 13. Daneman R, Zhou L, Agalliu D, Cahoy JD, Kaushal A, Barres BA. The Mouse Blood-Brain Barrier Transcriptome: A New Resource for Understanding the Development and

Function of Brain Endothelial Cells. Ikezu T, ed. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(10):e13741. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013741

- 14. Uchida Y, Ohtsuki S, Katsukura Y, et al. Quantitative targeted absolute proteomics of human blood-brain barrier transporters and receptors. *J Neurochem*. 2011;117(2):333-345. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07208.x
- 15. Xing WK, Shao C, Qi ZY, Yang C, Wang Z. The role of Gliadel wafers in the treatment of newly diagnosed GBM: A meta-analysis. *Drug Des Devel Ther*. 2015;9:3341-3348. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S85943
- 16. Chamberlain MC. Radiographic patterns of relapse in glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol*. 2011;101(2):319-323. doi:10.1007/s11060-010-0251-4
- 17. Buonerba C, Di Lorenzo G, Marinelli A, et al. A comprehensive outlook on intracerebral therapy of malignant gliomas. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*. 2011;80(1):54-68. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2010.09.001
- 18. Prados MD, Schold SC, Fine HA, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 study of RMP-7 in combination with carboplatin administered intravenously for the treatment of recurrent malignant glioma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2003;5(2):96-103. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12672281. Accessed May 6, 2018.
- 19. Sane R, Wu S-P, Zhang R, Gallo JM. The effect of ABCG2 and ABCC4 on the pharmacokinetics of methotrexate in the brain. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2014;42(4):537-540. doi:10.1124/dmd.113.055228
- Jaramillo AC, Al Saig F, Cloos J, Jansen G, Peters GJ. How to overcome ATP-binding cassette drug efflux transporter-mediated drug resistance? *Cancer Drug Resist*. 2018;1(1):6-29. doi:10.20517/cdr.2018.02
- 21. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2009;10(5):459-466. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70025-7
- 22. Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus Concomitant and Adjuvant Temozolomide for Glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(10):987-996. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- 23. Kazda T, Dziacky A, Burkon P, et al. Radiotherapy of glioblastoma 15 years after the landmark Stupp's trial: More controversies than standards? *Radiol Oncol*. 2018;52(2):121-128. doi:10.2478/raon-2018-0023
- 24. Campos B, Olsen LR, Urup T, Poulsen HS. A comprehensive profile of recurrent glioblastoma. *Oncogene*. 2016;35(45):5819-5825. doi:10.1038/onc.2016.85

- 25. Nishikawa R. Pediatric and adult gliomas: how different are they? *Neuro Oncol.* 2010;12(12):1203-1204. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq175
- 26. Ackley BJ, Ledwig G, Swan BA, Tucker S. *Evidence-Based Nursing Care Guidelines : Medical-Surgical Interventions*. Mosby/Elsevier; 2008.
- Brem H, Piantadosi S, Burger PC, et al. Placebo-controlled trial of safety and efficacy of intraoperative controlled delivery by biodegradable polymers of chemotherapy for recurrent gliomas. The Polymer-brain Tumor Treatment Group. *Lancet*. 1995;345(8956):1008-1012. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90755-6
- 28. Valtonen S, Timonen U, Toivanen P, et al. Interstitial chemotherapy with carmustineloaded polymers for high-grade gliomas: a randomized double-blind study. *Neurosurgery*. 1997;41(1):44-48; discussion 48-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9218294. Accessed May 3, 2018.
- Subach BR, Witham TF, Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD, Bozik M, Schiff D. Morbidity and survival after 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea wafer implantation for recurrent glioblastoma: a retrospective case-matched cohort series. *Neurosurgery*. 1999;45(1):17-22; discussion 22-3. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10414561. Accessed May 7, 2018.
- 30. Westphal M, Hilt DC, Bortey E, et al. A phase 3 trial of local chemotherapy with biodegradable carmustine (BCNU) wafers (Gliadel wafers) in patients with primary malignant glioma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2003;5(2):79-88. doi:10.1215/S1522-8517-02-00023-6
- 31. Affronti M Lou, Heery CR, Herndon JE, et al. Overall survival of newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients receiving carmustine wafers followed by radiation and concurrent temozolomide plus rotational multiagent chemotherapy. *Cancer*. 2009;115(15):3501-3511. doi:10.1002/cncr.24398
- 32. McGirt MJ, Than KD, Weingart JD, et al. Gliadel (BCNU) wafer plus concomitant temozolomide therapy after primary resection of glioblastoma multiforme. *J Neurosurg*. 2009;110(3):583-588. doi:10.3171/2008.5.17557
- 33. Chaichana KL, Zaidi H, Pendleton C, et al. The efficacy of carmustine wafers for older patients with glioblastoma multiforme: prolonging survival HHS Public Access. *Neurol Res.* 2011;33(7):759-764. doi:10.1179/1743132811Y.0000000006
- 34. De Bonis P, Anile C, Pompucci A, et al. Safety and efficacy of gliadel wafers for newly diagnosed and recurrent glioblastoma. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2012;154(8):1371-1378. doi:10.1007/s00701-012-1413-2
- 35. Noël G, Schott R, Froelich S, et al. Retrospective comparison of chemoradiotherapy followed by adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without prior Gliadel implantation (Carmustine) after initial surgery in patients with newly diagnosed high-grade gliomas. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2012;82(2):749-755. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.11.073

- 36. Samis Zella MA, Wallocha M, Slotty PJ, et al. Evaluation of post-operative complications associated with repeat resection and BCNU wafer implantation in recurrent glioblastoma. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2014;156(2):313-323. doi:10.1007/s00701-013-1931-6
- Walid MS. Prognostic factors for long-term survival after glioblastoma. *Perm J*. 2008;12(4):45-48. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21339920. Accessed August 9, 2018.
- Stark AM, van de Bergh J, Hedderich J, Mehdorn HM, Nabavi A. Glioblastoma: Clinical characteristics, prognostic factors and survival in 492 patients. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*. 2012;114(7):840-845. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2012.01.026
- 39. Shah AH, Barbarite E, Scoma C, et al. Revisiting the Relationship Between Ethnicity and Outcome in Glioblastoma Patients. *Cureus*. 2017;9(1):e954. doi:10.7759/cureus.954
- 40. Kitange GJ, Carlson BL, Schroeder MA, et al. Induction of MGMT expression is associated with temozolomide resistance in glioblastoma xenografts. *Neuro Oncol*. 2009;11(3):281-291. doi:10.1215/15228517-2008-090
- 41. Drappatz J, Brenner A, Wong ET, et al. Phase I Study of GRN1005 in Recurrent Malignant Glioma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2013;19(6):1567-1576. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2481
- 42. Gaillard PJ, Kerklaan BM, Aftimos P, et al. Abstract CT216: Phase I dose escalating study of 2B3-101, glutathione PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin, in patients with solid tumors and brain metastases or recurrent malignant glioma. *Cancer Res.* 2014;74(19 Supplement):CT216-CT216. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2014-CT216
- 43. Definition of overall survival NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/overallsurvival. Accessed May 5, 2018.
- 44. Definition of event-free survival NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/event-free-survival. Accessed May 5, 2018.
- 45. Saad ED, Katz A. Progression-free survival and time to progression as primary end points in advanced breast cancer: Often used, sometimes loosely defined. *Ann Oncol.* 2009;20(3):460-464. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdn670

Outcome	Outcome Definition		
Parameter			
Partial Response	\geq 50% reduction of the initial enhancing tumor, stable or reduced use of steroids, and stable or improved neurological	1	
(PR)	function.		
	Must be sustained for 4 weeks.		
Complete	Resolution of the enhancing tumor as shown on computed tomograms or magnetic resonance (MR) images, no need	1	
Response (CR)	for steroids, stable or improved neurological function, and negative results on CSF tests.		
Stable Disease	No CR, PR, or progression.	1	
(SD)	Stability of tumor on imaging (T2 or FLAIR)		
Progression	≥25% increase in perpendicular diameter of tumor	1	
	Significant increase in tumor size on imaging with stable or increasing doses of steroids		
Overall Survival	Length of time from diagnosis that patient remains alive.	2	
(OS)			
Event Free	The time it takes from the end of primary treatment for cancer until there arises a complication the treatment is trying	3,4	
Survival (EFS)	to prevent.		
Time to tumor	Essentially the same definition as EFS, except the "event" is progression of the tumor.	3,4	
progression			
(TTP)			

Table 1. Definitions of patient outcomes measured in cancer clinical trials.

¹Gallego O. Nonsurgical treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(4):e273-81. doi:10.3747/co.22.2436

²Definition of overall survival - NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms - National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/overall-survival. Accessed May 5, 2018.

³Definition of event-free survival - NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms - National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/event-free-survival. Accessed May 5, 2018.

⁴Saad ED, Katz A. Progression-free survival and time to progression as primary end points in advanced breast cancer: Often used, sometimes loosely defined. *Ann Oncol.* 2009;20(3):460-464. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdn670

	Authors	Method of BBB Disruption	Study Methods, Population, Exposure	Notes/Outcomes	
1)	(Brem <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1995) ^{27,*}	Carmustine Wafers	Patients undergoing surgical excision of glioma received carmustine or placebo wafer.	 Most patients had GBM, but other types of glioma (e.g., anaplastic astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma) were also compared. 222 patients with recurrent brain tumors were randomized to wafer or no wafer therapy. A significant overall survival difference at 6 months was seen for patients with GBM or anaplastic astrocytoma. 	
2)	(Valtonen <i>et al.</i> , 1997) ^{28,*}	Carmustine Wafers	Patients received carmustine or placebo wafers after surgical excision and then radiotherapy	 Patients had either grade III or IV glioma as determined by histopathology 32 patients, 16 in each treatment group. OS increased in the wafer treatment group significantly by about 20 weeks as compared to control 	
3)	(Subach <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1999) ²⁹	Carmustine Wafers	Patients undergoing secondary excision of recurrent GBM received wafers (study group) or simply a craniotomy (cohort group)	 Patients all had recurrent GBM and all received similar primary treatment with radiotherapy while most had received prior systemic chemotherapy (carmustine/cisplatin). 62 patients underwent operation, 17 were implanted with wafers, 45 did not. A survival benefit was seen in the control group as opposed to the wafer group, but this was not significant. 	
4)	(Westphal <i>et al.</i> , 2003) ^{30,*}	Carmustine Wafers	Carmustine wafers + radiotherapy as compared to placebo wafers + radiotherapy	 120 patients were in the placebo group and 120 were in the Carmustine wafer group. Most patients had a diagnosis of glioma, 1 and 2 patients in either group with brain metastases were not included in the outcome calculations. Overall survival of GBM patients (majority of the patients) was significantly higher in the carmustine wafer group at 13.6 months and 11.4 months for the placebo wafer group. 	
5)	(Affronti <i>et al.</i> , 2009) ³¹	Carmustine Wafers	Surgical resection, temozolomide, radiotherapy with or without wafer implantation	 All patients treated had GBM, majority of patients were Caucasian and above 50 years old 97 patients did not receive wafers, 85 did. No significant differences in OS were observed 	
6)	(McGirt <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2009) ^{32,*}	Carmustine Wafers	Patients received resection, radiotherapy, and temozolomide with or without carmustine wafers.	 All patients had GBM Median survival significantly increased in patients having implanted wafers by 9 months. 38 patients were treated with wafers, 78 patients were treated without. Survival at 2 years was also doubled for those receiving wafers (statistically significant). 6-month PFS was also significantly higher, more than double in wafer treatment group (90% vs. 40%). 	
7)	(Chaichana <i>et al.</i> , 2011) ^{33,*}	Carmustine Wafers	Standard treatment (including surgical excision) with wafers as compared to standard treatment without wafers.	 Patients > 65 years of age with a supratentorial GBM were selected. 45 patients with carmustine wafer implantation were matched with 45 who did not. Patients receiving resection with wafer implant as opposed to those without were matched for other variables such as age, extent of resection, and post-operative radiation or chemotherapy. 	

				• A significant OS difference (p=0.007) was seen in the wafer treatment group as compared to control (8.7 and 5.5 months respectively).	
8)	(De Bonis <i>et al.</i> , 2012) ³⁴	Carmustine Wafers	Standard treatment (including surgical excision) with wafers as compared to standard treatment without wafers.	 Both patients with newly diagnosed (n=77) and recurrent (n=88) GBM were treated. Use of wafers did not significantly affect overall survival in either group of patients as compared to without wafers. 	
9)	(Noël <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2012) ³⁵	Carmustine Wafers	Standard treatment (including surgical excision) with wafers as compared to standard treatment without wafers.	 Patients were treated for either grade III or IV glioma. 65 patients underwent surgery, 28 had wafer implants, 37 did not. Use of Gliadel wafers did not change PFS or OS significantly. 	
10)	(Samis Zella <i>et al.</i> , 2014) ³⁶	Carmustine Wafers	Patients had surgical resection, radiotherapy, and concomitant temozolomide. Patients then either received wafers or no wafer treatment post excision.	 All patients had supratentorial grade IV glioma (GBM) 63 patients were given wafers post resection and 32 without implantation. No significant difference in disease-free interval (DFI) or PFS in both treatment groups. 	

Table 2. Summary of studies demonstrating clinical outcomes after use of carmustine (Gliadel) wafer therapy in patients with glioma. A * indicates that the study determined a significant difference in overall survival in treatment vs. control groups.



Figure 1. Percent (%) increase in overall survival (OS) in treatment vs. control groups from carmustine wafer studies and the Stupp protocol. Percent increase in OS from all studies in carmustine wafer trials (blue bars). These were compared to the percent increase in OS demonstrated previously in standard of care for GBM (temozolomide AND radiotherapy vs. radiotherapy alone – red bars) according to the Stupp protocol²².

* indicates a study that demonstrated a significant difference in OS as compared to control (p < 0.05).

Appendix A

	Authors	Method of BBB Disruption	Study Type	Evidence Level
1)	(Westphal <i>et al.</i> , 2003)	Carmustine Wafers	Randomized Clinical Trial (RCT)	1
2)	(De Bonis <i>et al.</i> , 2012)	Carmustine Wafers	Prospective Cohort study	2
3)	(Noël et al., 2012)	Carmustine Wafers	Retrospective Case Control Study	3
4)	(Chaichana <i>et al.</i> , 2011)	Carmustine Wafers	Retrospective Case Control Study	3
5)	(Affronti <i>et al.</i> , 2009)	Carmustine Wafers	Retrospective Case Control Study	3
6)	(Valtonen <i>et al.</i> , 1997)	Carmustine Wafers	Prospective Cohort Study	2
7)	(Subach et al., 1999)	Carmustine Wafers	Prospective Cohort Study	2
8)	(Brem et al., 1995)	Carmustine Wafers	Randomized Clinical Trial (RCT)	1
9)	(McGirt <i>et al.</i> , 2009)	Carmustine Wafers	Retrospective Case Control Study	3
10)	(Samis Zella <i>et al.</i> , 2014)	Carmustine Wafers	Retrospective Case Control Study	3

Table 3. Summary of study types and evidence level

The criteria used to determine the evidence level for each study design were determined using previously published guidelines²⁶.